Jelena Budak, Edo Rajh and Mirela Holy

Public perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia



Radni materijali ElZ-a ElZ Working Papers ElZ-WP-2302

# Public perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia

#### Jelena Budak

Senior Research Fellow in Permanent Position, corresponding author The Institute of Economics, Zagreb Trg J. F. Kennedyja 7, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia E. jbudak@eizg.hr

#### Edo Rajh

Senior Research Fellow in Permanent Position The Institute of Economics, Zagreb Trg J. F. Kennedyja 7, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia E. erajh@eizg.hr

#### **Mirela Holy**

Assistant Professor VERN' University Palmotićeva 82/1, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia E. mirela.holy@vern.hr

www.eizg.hr

Zagreb, October 2023

#### IZDAVAČ / PUBLISHER:

Ekonomski institut, Zagreb / The Institute of Economics, Zagreb Trg J. F. Kennedyja 7 10 000 Zagreb Hrvatska / Croatia T. +385 1 2362 200 F. +385 1 2335 165 E. eizagreb@eizg.hr www.eizg.hr

#### ZA IZDAVAČA / FOR THE PUBLISHER:

Tajana Barbić, ravnateljica / director

**GLAVNA UREDNICA / EDITOR:** Ivana Rašić

#### UREDNIŠTVO / EDITORIAL BOARD:

Ivan-Damir Anić Tajana Barbić Goran Buturac Antonija Čuvalo Ivica Rubil Sunčana Slijepčević Paul Stubbs Maruška Vizek

**LEKTURA / LANGUAGE EDITING:** Doris Baničević

IZVRŠNA UREDNICA / EXECUTIVE EDITOR: Doris Dresto

TEHNIČKI UREDNIK / TECHNICAL EDITOR: Vladimir Sukser

e-ISSN 1847-7844

Stavovi izraženi u radovima u ovoj seriji publikacija stavovi su autora i nužno ne odražavaju stavove Ekonomskog instituta, Zagreb. Radovi se objavljuju s ciljem poticanja rasprave i kritičkih komentara kojima će se unaprijediti buduće verzije rada. Autor(i) u potpunosti zadržavaju autorska prava nad člancima objavljenim u ovoj seriji publikacija.

Views expressed in this Series are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the Institute of Economics, Zagreb. Working Papers describe research in progress by the author(s) and are published in order to induce discussion and critical comments. Copyrights retained by the author(s).

# Contents

	Abstract	5
1	Introduction	7
2	Literature review	8
3	Croatian policies and strategy for development of the cultural and creative industries	11
4	Data and methodology	14
5	Results	15
5.1	Familiarity and usage	15
5.2	Attitudes	19
5.3	Policy	21
5.4	Acceptance models	23
6	Conclusions and policy recommendations	25
	References	29
	Appendix: Questionnaire	33

# Public perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia

#### Abstract:

This research investigates the public perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia. Based on the survey data, it assesses how well Croatian citizens/consumers are familiar with creative and cultural industries and explores their usage of creative and cultural industry products and services. The consumers' attitudes towards creative and cultural industries' products and services are also compared. The research objective is to identify the determinants of public perception in the context of creative industries and the creative economy. Six main theoretical models of acceptance are tested to examine which model best fits the context of creative industries in Croatia. The findings are framed to facilitate policy decision-making so 20 recommendations for the future development of policies to encourage creative and cultural industries in Croatia are offered.

This work is funded by the Institute of Economics, Zagreb grant scheme TvojGrant@EIZ under project no. 3225 CRIN2023.

**Keywords:** perception, acceptance models, creative and cultural industries, creative economy, consumers JEL classification: D12, L8, Z10

# Percepcija javnosti o kreativnim i kulturnim industrijama u Hrvatskoj

## Sažetak:

Istraživanje se bavi percepcijom javnosti o kreativnim i kulturnim industrijama u Hrvatskoj. Temeljem anketnih podataka, empirijski se ispituje koliko su hrvatski građani/potrošači upoznati s kulturnim i kreativnim industrijama te kako koriste proizvode i usluge kreativnih i kulturnih industrija. Nadalje se uspoređuju njihovi stavovi prema proizvodima i uslugama kreativne i kulturne industrije. Cilj istraživanja je identificirati odrednice percepcije javnosti u kontekstu kreativnih industrija i kreativne ekonomije. Testirano je šest glavnih teorijskih modela prihvaćanja kako bi se ispitalo koji teorijski model najbolje odgovara kontekstu kreativnih industrija u Hrvatskoj. Temeljem rezultata analize, izvedeno je 20 preporuka za budući razvoj politika poticanja kreativnih i kulturnih industrija u Hrvatskoj.

Ovaj je rad financirao Ekonomski institut, Zagreb TvojGrant@ElZ projektom br. 3225 CRIN2023.

Ključne riječi: percepcija, modeli prihvaćanja, kreativne i kulturne industrije, kreativno gospodarstvo, potrošači
JEL klasifikacija: D12, L8, Z10

## 1 Introduction

A creative economy incorporates all forms of creative and cultural industries. It differs from other economic systems as its value is based on exploiting ideas, imagination, and innovation (Howkins, 2013). In the EU, the lead of the group of developed countries in the share of creative industries in the economy (UNCTAD, 2018, p. 20), the creative economy holds 8.3 million full-time equivalent jobs (van Antwerpen et al., 2015) and participates with 4.4 percent of the total GDP compared to 2.3 percent in Croatia (Rašić Bakarić et al., 2015). According to a recent study, the creative and cultural sector (CCS) accounted for 2.6 percent of gross value added in the EU-27 in 2019 and 2.6 percent of total employment in 2021 (The Measuring CCS Consortium, 2022). The same source compares Croatia's cultural and creative sector contribution to the EU-27 average, reporting a lower share of sectoral employment (1.9 percent) and a higher share in value added (3 percent) than the EU-27 average. Interestingly, the Final Report - Measuring the Cultural and Creative Sectors in the EU (The Measuring CCS Consortium, 2022) emphasized a positive relationship between the size of the creative and cultural sectors and the overall productivity of a national economy. Their results indicate that if the weight of the creative and cultural sector in the sample countries is doubled, the average labor productivity increases by 1.25 percent. Unfortunately, Croatia is below the European mean, "but with positive effects" (The Measuring CCS Consortium, 2022, p. 22). Further, the Report claims that creative and cultural sectors have multiplier effects on value added generated by the economy as a whole and the IT sector. The multiplicative factor of the IT part of the Croatian cultural and creative sector to the rest of the economy is, however, the lowest in the EU, only 0.942 euros for one euro. The Report also analyzed the relationship between the creative and cultural sectors and well-being through the OECD Better Life Index, considering the quality of life, the environment, sustainability, and the reproduction of future well-being. Here again, Croatia is amongst European countries with minor benefits of the creative and cultural sector, thus underpinning the need for research and putting the creative and cultural sector policies in the focus of national politics.

The figures are not fully comparable due to the methodological inconsistency between the different sources about what encompasses the cultural and creative industries or sectors. However, the existing gap indicates that their potential in the national economy is not fully recognized. The lagging behind might be partly due to the lack of adequate policy measures and insufficient knowledge and understanding of this sector among Croatian citizens. This research aims to tackle both consumers' and policy angles of the issue. Assuming that there is limited public knowledge on creative and cultural industries, i.e., from the point of view of consumers – Croatian citizens, and scarce academic knowledge on this topic, this study explores the public acceptance of creative and cultural industries and the creative economy in Croatia. It empirically assesses consumers' perceptions, attitudes, and usage of creative and cultural industries products and services and their subjective valuation of the creative

and cultural industry's significance. The research gives plausible answers to how familiar Croatian consumers are with the concept of creative and cultural industries, what their views are on the creative and cultural industries' importance from an economic, environmental, and social perspective, how much and in what way they consume creative and cultural industry products and services, and whether these industries help them overcome crises.

This research adds value to verifying which theoretical acceptance model better explains the perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia. The empirical analysis identifies the main determinants of public perception of creative and cultural industries in Croatia. Besides increasing the corpus of scarce scientific research and knowledge on creative industries and the creative economy in Croatia, the empirical research findings will facilitate policy decision-making by the government and relevant stakeholders.

The paper is structured as follows. The relevant literature review on creative industries and acceptance model theory and studies is presented in the next section. Insight into Croatian policy and institutional framework for cultural and creative industries is given in section 3. Data, sample statistics, and methodology used are described in section 4. The core section 5 presents results on consumers' familiarity and usage and their attitudes towards creative and cultural industries in Croatia. Public opinion on the future of creative and cultural industries is also presented. The regression analysis results defining the most appropriate acceptance model are also part of section 5. The final section 6 concludes on the results and offers policy recommendations.

# 2 Literature review

The term "creative industries" became widely used in the 1990s when the United Kingdom government explored the direct impact of creative industries on the British economy (Newbigin, 2014). Creative industries create employment and promote innovation but produce non-economic benefits by maintaining and promoting cultural and artistic values that contribute to society's well-being. The term "creative industries" is older than the concept of "creative economy," developed in 2001 by John Howkins (Howkins, 2013). Creativity, according to Howkins, is about using an idea to generate another idea, an endless cognitive and emotional process of creation, exploration, and innovation. The creative economy encompasses cultural and creative industries and is a much broader concept than creative industries (Potts & Cunningham, 2008). According to the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), "the creative industries are at the core of the creative economy and are defined as production cycles of goods and services that use creativity and intellectual capital as their main input. Their role classifies them as heritage, art, media, and functional creations" (acc. Parrish). There are thirteen

subsectors under the term "creative industries," and these are advertising; architecture; the art and antiques market; crafts; design; designer fashion; film and video; interactive leisure software; music; the performing arts; publishing; software and computer games; and television and radio (Cunningham & Flew, 2019). As a precursor to the creative industries, the cultural industries in the '30s and '40s were negatively contextualized as a form of commodification of culture, especially within the earlier work of the Frankfurt School. Theorists from the Frankfurt School claimed that cultural industries are the commodification of art and serve as an ideological legitimization of capitalist societies and the emergence of a popular culture industry (UNESCO & UNDP, 2013, p. 20). Some theorists still have such an approach to cultural and creative industries, emphasizing the threat of global cultural homogenization. They claim that culture and creativity and the economy are mutually hostile, each driven by logic so incompatible that when the two are made to converge, the integrity of the culture and creativity always suffers. However, thanks to the work of the UN organizations, this perception of cultural and creative industries and the creative economy has changed since the 1980s. Many analysts have begun to recognize that commodification does not necessarily result in the degeneration of creative expression, as many industrially and digitally generated goods and services possess many positive qualities (UNESCO & UNDP, 2013, p. 20). Especially with the intensification of global climate change and environmental crisis, the creative economy is presented as a possible solution for a sustainable transition. Namely, according to Howkins (2013), a creative economy is based on imaginative qualities rather than on the resources of land, labor, and capital and, as such, is one of the most dynamic sectors of the global economy that has a powerful transformative role in further socioeconomic development.

Although creative industries, as ancestors of the cultural industries, are not a new phenomenon and, accordingly, creative economy that encompasses all creative industries is a globally well-known concept, there is still much misunderstanding about creative industries and the creative economy as a whole (Flew, 2002). The official notion of creative industries is the subject of critiques in scholarly debate (O'Connor, 2009; Galloway & Dunlop, 2007; Potts et al., 2008) and "there is no single definition of 'creative economy'" because it is "a term in constant mutation that underlies the convergence of creativity, culture, and economy" (Cvjetičanin, 2012). For example, Potts et al. (2008) proposed a new definition of creative industries, the social network market definition of creative industries. According to them, creative industries are "the set of agents and agencies in a market characterized by the adoption of novel ideas within social networks for production and consumption" (p. 6). The classification of creative industries is even more controversial (Berg & Hassink, 2014), especially from the public point of view. Moore (2014) emphasizes that "in Latvia, the use of the Creative Industries term increases; however, the understanding of its implications often causes confusion, both among policymakers and the broader public." Countries have different approaches, definitions, and classifications of creative industries and creative economy, which is crucial to design and implement creative

industry policy (Roodhouse, 2006). Because of that, UNCTAD (2022, p. 18) warns that "the concept of the creative economy is evolving, and all industries involve some level of creativity and innovation." Results of the 2021 UNCTAD survey on the creative economy that was conducted in 33 countries showed that "the concept and definition of the creative economy are diverse, representing countries' cultural diversity, but also due to different economic structures, statistical methodologies, and classification used" (UNCTAD, 2022, p. 84). Because of that, UNCTAD emphasizes that it is important to "recognize the importance of the creative economy by building on definitions and classifications of international and regional organizations and conceptualizing creative industries in ways that consider national and regional economic structures" as well as that "governments are encouraged to work with international organizations like IDB, UNCTAD, UNESCO, and WIPO towards a more harmonized concept and scope for the creative economy and industries" (UNCTAD, 2022, p. 84). Despite some problems in the creative industry statistics (Van der Pol, 2007), the creative economy is very propulsive. UNCTAD (2022, p. iii) claims that "the global exports of creative goods represented US\$524 million in 2020, while world exports of creative services reached US\$1.1 trillion," and that "creative services were more resilient during the COVID-19 pandemic than other services sectors." Furthermore, the United Kingdom's Creative Alliance (2016) research showed that "78% of millennials would rather purchase an experience than a product" and emphasizes that "millennials respond better to product marketing that focuses on an idea, or lifestyle, rather than solely on a product." All this shows, the study concludes, that "the 'experience economy' will boom, benefiting the creative industries associated with it." In other words, just like research regarding the behavior and attitudes of the younger generations, economic trends show that the creative economy has a prosperous future.

Various studies have assessed the significance of creative industries from a macroeconomic aspect (primarily by measuring their size and growth), and the microeconomic aspect is analyzed through the lenses of their industrial organization (Towse, 2020). The existing microstudies of consumers and creative industries nexus are specific to subsectors of creative industries. However, research on the overall consumer (public) and creative industries relation is lacking. In framing this research – in the context of Croatia – it is worth mentioning studies of creative industries as drivers of economic growth in post-transition countries (e.g., Bilan et al., 2019; Primorac, 2014) and studies on consumers' perception and lack of awareness of creative industries (Kartika et al., 2021) or consumers' valuation of a new creative product (Caves, 2000). Nevertheless, literature on the creative industries and creative-economy-related studies for Croatia are rare. The mapping of the creative and cultural industries in Croatia was for the first time done in 2015 (Rašić Bakarić et al., 2015), and this theme recently raised again the interest of researchers at the Institute of Economics, Zagreb (Ekonomski institut, Zagreb, 2022). Both studies for Croatia deal with the macroeconomic significance of creative industries. The other stream of research

deals with the lack of regulation and public policy in Croatia (e.g., Ahmetašević, 2015; Jobst, 2020).

This paper stems from the state of the research field and the actual situation of creative industries and the creative economy in Croatia. Lagging behind the European average might be attributed to inadequate institutional framework and national policy and the lack of public awareness of creative industries, the creative economy, and its potential and benefits. Therefore, it is essential to understand better the public perception of creative industries in Croatia and the various determinants that affect public perception.

Public perception is a theoretical concept widely used in different contexts and academic disciplines. Public perception is one of several theoretical terms used to study acceptance issues such as public acceptance, public support, social acceptance, and willingness to use (He et al., 2018). Public perception is a public response in terms of attitude, intention, or behavior relating to the object of study (Upham et al., 2015). Behavioral studies have been used across various disciplines to understand better the determinants of public perception and related acceptance concepts, and various theoretical models have been developed to explain the formation and determinants of acceptance (Venkatesh et al., 2003).

# 3 Croatian policies and strategy for development of the cultural and creative industries

In Croatia, there is a formally organized institutional framework for the development of creative and cultural industries. However, there is no adopted national strategic document for the development of cultural and creative industries and no action plan for the implementation of policy measures to encourage their development.<sup>1</sup>

As part of the Ministry of Culture and Media, the Directorate for Media and Development of Cultural and Creative Industries was formed with the associated sectors and offices (Figure 1),<sup>2</sup> which creates the impression that the sector of creative and cultural industries in Croatia is institutionally covered at the highest state level of executive power.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://vlada.gov.hr/vijesti/izrada-nacionalnog-plana-razvoja-kulture-i-medija-za-razdoblje-od-2022-do-2027-godine/36170 (25.7.2023.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://min-kulture.gov.hr/kontakt-103/uprava-za-medije-i-razvoj-kulturnih-i-kreativnih-industrija/110 (25.7.2023.)



Source: Ministry of Culture and Media of the Republic of Croatia, https://min-kulture.gov.hr/ustroj/354

However, there are no strategic and implementation action plans that would encourage the development of cultural and creative activities. Two decades after the adoption of the Strategy for Cultural Development in 2003, the Ministry of Culture and Media in July 2023 presented the Overview of Cultural Development and Cultural Policies in the Republic of Croatia<sup>3</sup> and announced that the National Plan for the Development of Culture and Media, which was supposed to cover the period from 2022 to 2027, would soon be sent to public e-consultation.<sup>4</sup> The Overview emphasizes that since the mid-1990s, "certain national cultural policies have focused on cultural and creative industries, which in the early 2000s became increasingly more important" (Matanovac Vučković, Uzelac & Vidović, 2022a, p. 18). The development of systematic models for measuring the positive impact of cultural and creative industries on the economy and economic growth enabled comparison between countries over time (Matanovac Vučković, 2017). However, despite these changes, which are visible from the activities of a whole series of UN and other international organizations dealing with the cultural and creative sector, the Overview of Cultural Development and Cultural Policies in the Republic of Croatia (Matanovac Vučković, Uzelac & Vidović, 2022b) is based dominantly on the structure and methodology of the National Report on Cultural Policy in the Republic of Croatia from 1998 (Cvjetičanin & Katunarić, 1998), which also indicates that Croatia is lagging behind

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://min-

kulture.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/Pregled%20kulturnog%20razvoja%20i%20kulturnih%20politika%20u%20 Republici%20Hrvatskoj\_.pdf (25.7.2023.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://min-kulture.gov.hr/vijesti-8/predstavljena-publikacija-pregled-kulturnog-razvoja-i-kulturnih-politika-u-republicihrvatskoj-i-nacrt-nacionalnog-plana-razvoja-kulture-i-medija-za-razdoblje-od-2023-do-2027-godine/24003 (25.7.2023.)

European and other developed countries in terms of cultural and creative industries, both in practice and in the political context. Namely, the Overview of Cultural Development and Cultural Policies in the Republic of Croatia (2022) devotes only one short subchapter to cultural and creative industries which analyzes the relationship between culture and economy, and the problem of defining the scope and classification of cultural and creative industries in Croatia, with particular emphasis on scientific and professional disagreements when it comes to these issues (Primorac, 2022). The essential messages presented by Primorac (2022) are the observed obstacles to development and numerous problems faced by the cultural and creative industries sector in Croatia, such as:

- Centralization to the capital Zagreb and larger urban centers,
- Lack of specific education for the needs of rapidly changing subsectors,
- Strong influence of global media companies and platforms,
- Failure to recognize the value of work in the sector (precarious work, existential insecurity),
- Failure to recognize the broader contribution to society and the economy,
- Lack of strategic thinking for the sector of cultural and creative industries, especially at the local level,
- Lack of funding sources and continuous public incentives without which the sector in a small country cannot function,
- Lack of data and systematic monitoring in the sector and lack of research into the situation and needs in the sector (Primorac, 2022, pp. 273–279).

The author concludes that it is necessary to create public policies for the sector and support the development of distribution channels for cultural products and services, as well as networks connecting programs throughout Croatia. For this purpose, it is necessary to strengthen the functional links of the Ministry, the government, and all stakeholders in the institutional set-up of the creative and cultural industries. At the same time, Primorac (2022) warns about the dangers of commodification of culture and creative activity, which should definitely be taken into account when creating public policies. The whole subchapter shows the reserved attitude of the author of this part of the Overview towards the cultural and creative industries, which points to the fear of excessive focus of the sector on economic development through culture and/or creativity and to the wrong expectations that it will be enough to stimulate the development of cultural and creative industries so there will be a "more standardised and fairer economy" (Primorac, 2022, p. 273). Instead of the expected curative approach of the cultural and creative sector to the overall market economy based on the exploitation of natural and human resources, the Overview (2022) expresses fear of additional contamination of culture and creativity, which is similar to the fears expressed by members of the Frankfurt School in the middle of the 20th century towards the cultural industries.

Since cultural and creative industries do not appear adequately in the discourse of public policies in Croatia, the public will likely have incomplete knowledge about the concept and potential of cultural and creative industries, which is empirically verified in the continuation of the paper.

# 4 Data and methodology

The instrument in the study was a highly structured questionnaire consisting of 16 questions (plus demographic ones). There were two open-ended questions, the first asking the respondents to define the notion of creative and cultural industries. The second open-ended question was about their view of the future of creative and cultural industries. Other questions were closed-ended, some of them single-choice and some of them multiple-choice questions. The authors developed the questionnaire with part of the questions adapted from the literature on acceptance models. The questionnaire was administered with the Computer Assisted Web Interviewing (CAWI) method in May and June 2023. The questionnaire translated into English is enclosed in the Appendix.

The empirical research was based on the online survey on a net sample of 1,000 Croatian citizens aged 18 and over. A nationally representative sample was proportional depending on region, gender, and age. The net sample of 1,000 was considered adequate for the survey, ensuring a maximum sample error of 3.2 percent. The large database provided sufficient power to investigate the new research questions and enabled us to perform the subsample analysis at an acceptable sampling error level below 5 percent (Hill, 1998; Boo & Froelicher, 2013). Collected empirical data were analyzed with various statistical techniques. Theoretical models of acceptance were tested with regression analysis to identify the model with the best fit for the creative industries and to identify the main determinants of public perception of creative industries in Croatia.

Due to the complexity and specific infrastructure required for the large-scale fieldwork, the field research of collecting survey data online by CAWI was outsourced to a professional agency and remained under the full supervision of the project team.

The sample profile is presented in Table 1.

Characteristics %				
Gender	-			
Male	47.8			
Female	52.2			
Age				
18-24	10.4			
25-34	16.7			
35-44	16.3			
45-54	18.0			
55+	38.6			
Education				
Without primary education	0.1			
Primary education	1.2			
Secondary education	50.0			
Tertiary education	47.7			
No answer	1.0			
Monthly household income (EUR)				
665 or less	9.6			
666-1060	14.8			
1061-1990	34.0			
1991-2655	16.8			
2655 or more	10.2			
No answer	14.6			

Source: Authors.

# 5 Results

The empirical analysis of the survey data was conducted in four streams. We first assessed i) consumers' familiarity and usage of creative and cultural industry products and services, ii) attitudes of Croatian consumers towards creative and cultural industry products and services, and iii) opinions about related policies, all using descriptive statistics. Regression analysis was further employed to test four possible acceptance models and iv) to determine which was optimal to estimate the acceptance of creative and cultural industries in Croatia.

# 5.1 Familiarity and usage

The first three questions were posed before the official definition was provided to respondents. We intended to see if and how familiar Croatian consumers are with creative and cultural industries. The initial assumption that the notion of creative and cultural industries is not well known in Croatia was confirmed by 43 percent of respondents who declared they are unfamiliar with the term "creative and cultural industries." When asked to define creative and cultural industries, "do not know" answers and entirely wrong

definitions to this open-ended question match the share of 43 percent of unfamiliar respondents.

We categorized the rest of the answers on definitions into two groups: the first group consists of explanatory definitions close to the correct understanding of creative and cultural industries (22 percent), and the second group represents answers given in the form of listing one or several subsectors (35 percent). The definitions often used terms such as "innovative," "new ideas," "art," "modern," indicating that Croatian consumers associate creative and cultural industries with creating new products and arts. With regard to subsectors, museums and arts, as well as film and music, were the most often mentioned ones. None of the respondents mentioned all the subsectors of creative and cultural industries.

Although over half of the respondents (almost 58 percent) say they are familiar with the term "creative and cultural industries," the knowledge shown is not satisfactory when asked to determine precisely what activities constitute creative and cultural industries.

Respondents were offered all types of economic activities falling under the category of creative and cultural industry and had multiple choice options to answer. Respondents predominantly chose museums, libraries and heritage, performing arts, and visual arts, probably because of the strongest association with the term "culture" (Figure 2).

Less than 50 percent of respondents see publishing, computer programs, SW and games, new media, electronic media, and advertising belonging to the creative and cultural industry. Interestingly, only about one-third of respondents consider SW, computer games, and new media subsectors of creative and cultural industries without prior instructions.

After providing them with the clear definition of creative and cultural industry (see the questionnaire in the Appendix), 80 percent of respondents declared themselves as consumers/users of creative and cultural industry products and services. Out of 800 declared users, close to 80 percent use film industry products or libraries, and visit museums or heritage sites. Interestingly, much fewer respondents visit exhibitions or buy products of visual arts (26 percent). Design, advertising, and architecture products and services are, as expected, the least used products and services of creative and cultural industries in terms of number of consumers (Figure 3).



*Note: Multiple answers were allowed. Source: Authors.* 



*Note: In percentage of respondents. Multiple answers were allowed. Source: Authors.* 

The frequency of using specific creative and cultural products and services is presented in Figure 4. Users had to name one creative and cultural industry whose product or service they use the most often. Film and electronic media are the most often used products,



followed by the products and services of museums, libraries, heritage, and music and performing arts.

Source: Authors.

The most crucial criterion in using products and services of creative and cultural industries is quality, followed by price. Location is of medium significance for consumers, while social responsibility and ecological aspects seem less relevant in consumers' choices.

Next, we were interested to see what could make consumers in Croatia start using or increasing their consumption of creative and cultural industries' products and services. For seven out of ten respondents, this could happen if they had more money available, and about 60 percent need more time. If consumers had more money or time available, they would increase their consumption primarily of music and performing arts, followed by museums, libraries, heritage visits, and film industry products. One-third of consumers and potential consumers look for better offers and higher quality of such products and services to increase their consumption. A significant share of Croatian consumers is reluctant to use products and services of creative and cultural industries (4 percent).

## 5.2 Attitudes

Consumers in Croatia have different opinions and attitudes towards creative and cultural industries' role in the economy, society, environment, and for them personally. Their attitudes were examined by asking them to express their level of agreement on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 - fully disagree to 5 - fully agree.

The statements were grouped into six segments: the future role of creative and cultural industries (orange), the role in crises (red), feeling good effect (purple), the role in the economy (grey), the role in the society (blue), and the environmental role of creative and cultural industries (green) (Figure 5).



Source: Authors.

Given that all statements were formulated to denote the positive role of the creative and cultural industry and that all the scores are above 3, one can conclude that Croatian consumers, on average, have positive attitudes towards creative and cultural industries.

The highest agreement score is given to the "purple" statements (4.1), denoting the upbeat, feel-good effect of using products and services of creative and cultural industries in improving one's mood. This result is somewhat in contrast to the "red" group of statements examining the supposed helpful role of using creative and cultural industries' products and services in times of crisis, including personal problems and the recent external troubles Croatian citizens had witnessed in times shortly prior to the survey. Respondents do not see the use of creative and cultural industries' products and services helping them to overcome the stress caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, war conflicts in Ukraine, earthquakes in the capital of Zagreb and the Banovina region, energy crisis threat in the winter season, etc.

According to the opinion of most respondents, the importance of the creative and cultural industries in society is acknowledged, and their role should be even more significant (score 4). However, the role and importance in the economy are seen a bit lower. Often creative and cultural industries are associated with environmentally safe products and services. Hence, the weak appreciation of their role in preserving the environment and motivating businesses and consumers to behave environmentally sound is rather unexpected. Combined with the next set of questions, the results on the attitudes were completed to learn what creative and cultural subsector is perceived as the least harmful to the environment and nature, and the most contributing to the economy and society (Figure 6). The best score in all three categories was achieved by museums, libraries and heritage, computer games, SW, and new media, while music and performing arts are ranked third.



Note: In % of respondents. Source: Authors.

The lowest negative impact on the environment is attributed to the activity of museums, libraries, and heritage (according to the opinion of 34 percent of respondents), followed by photography (12 percent). The worst impact is ascribed to publishing and architecture.

Computer programming, SW, games, and new media are seen as the creative and cultural industries subsector which contributes the most to the economy (20 percent of respondents), followed by the film industry and architecture (about 13 percent). The economic effects of publishing, visual arts, design, and photography are perceived as very low. The social role of visual arts and design is equally seen as not very important.

One out of ten respondents would attribute a significant role in society to computer games, SW and new media, film, and traditional and artistic crafts. However, a significant social role is attributed to museums, libraries, and heritage (26 percent).

## 5.3 Policy

The role of creative and cultural industries is generally seen as increasingly important in the future (score 3.9, Figure 5). However, we were interested in getting a deeper insight into public opinion on the future of creative and cultural industries. For that purpose, an open-ended question was posed at the end of the survey, and the textual answers were *a posteriori* categorized by the authors into six groups (Figure 7).

Besides those respondents who do not have an opinion on this matter and do not know (21 percent) or gave an opinion on other matters not related to the future of creative and cultural industries (11 percent), most of the respondents have an optimistic view of the future of creative and cultural industries. Over 40 percent think the industry will further grow, continue to develop, and become more critical and significant for the economy and society, mainly due to increased availability, affordability, and accessibility of products and services (content) of creative and cultural industries. In line with this general opinion, a separate category are views on the crucial role of digitalization, new technologies, modernization, and online environment for the future of the creative and cultural industries (17 percent). Many answers point out that the future development's mainstay will involve using artificial intelligence to create content, virtual events, and online presentations. An interesting perspective is found in linking digitalized contents (e.g., museums and libraries) with increased accessibility to rural populations and as an opportunity for tourism.

A small share of respondents think there will be no change (3 percent), while others predict the decline of creative and cultural industries (a "no future" opinion is expressed by 4 percent of respondents). Lastly, some respondents predicted different future scenarios depending on the subsector of the creative and cultural industry. The most common opinion was that traditional subsectors such as crafts and museums, visits to the theatre and cinemas would be replaced by more "modern" ones.



Note: N = 1,000 respondents. Source: Authors.

Several answers on the future development of creative and cultural industries mentioned that it depends on policy measures. The perceived role of the government, specifically the Ministry of Culture and Media, in the development of creative and cultural industries in Croatia is presented in Figure 8. Over 40 percent of respondents think that role is vital because creative and cultural industries depend on state funds and public resources. According to the opinion of 27 percent of Croatian citizens, the role of the government and Ministry and the significance of state support vary across different creative and cultural industries that for others, the effect is rather burdening than supporting the development. The role is insignificant for over 20 percent of respondents who think that creative and cultural industries are left to themselves. Therefore, the government should be more active in providing support by adopting development strategies and action plans targeted to creative and cultural industries and funding strategic projects crucial for their development.



*Note: In percentage of respondents. Source: Authors.* 

# 5.4 Acceptance models

This empirical research tested six different theoretical acceptance models for the context of creative and cultural industries. These models are: (1) theory of reasoned action (TRA) (Sheppard et al., 1988), (2) theory of planned behavior (TPB) (Ajzen, 1991), (3) technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1989), (4) extended TAM (TAM2) (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), (5) motivational model (MM) (Vallerand, 1997), (6) combined TAM and TPB (C-TAM-TPB) (Taylor & Todd, 1995).

The reliability of scales for latent variables used in the research was assessed with Cronbach's alpha coefficients. All Cronbach's alpha coefficient values were above 0.7, and the majority of them were above 0.8 (Table 2). The results indicate an acceptable level of reliability for all latent variables.

The theoretical models were tested with multiple regression analysis (Table 3). All regression coefficients were significant at the p < 0.01 level. All tested theoretical models exhibit a good fit for empirical data. The model with the best fit is the combined TAM and TPB model (C-TAM-TPB), followed by the motivational model (MM).

Latent variables	Items	Cronbach's alpha
	sn1	
Subjective norm	sn2	0.801
	sn3	
	atb1	
Attitude towards behavior	atb2	0.834
	atb3	
Perceived behavioral control	pbc1	0.741
	pbc2	0.741
	i1	
Intention	i2	0.817
	i3	
	peou1	
Perceived ease of use	peou2	0.755
	peou3	
	pu1	
Perceived usefulness / extrinsic motivation	pu2	0.807
	рuЗ	
	im1	
Intrinsic motivation	im2	0.859
	im3	

Source: Authors.

Table 3 Multiple regression results									
Independent	Acceptance models								
variables	TRA	ТРВ	ТАМ	TAM2	ММ	C-TAM-TPB			
SN	0.25*	0.21*		0.17*		0.13*			
ATB	0.62*	0.60*				0.36*			
PBC		0.15*				0.11*			
PEOU			0.25*	0.21*					
PU (EM)			0.64*	0.56*	0.48*	0.37*			
IM					0.40*				
Model fit	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.65; F = 939.24; p = 0.000	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.67; F = 679.99; p = 0.000	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.67; F = 1,020.20; p = 0.000	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.69; F = 729.06; p = 0.000	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.70; F = 1,139.40; p = 0.000	R <sup>2</sup> = 0.71; F = 623.20; p = 0.000			

*Note: \* Significant at the p < 0.01 level. Source: Authors.* 

The results indicate that the best determinants of acceptance of creative and cultural industries are attitude towards behavior (ATB), perceived usefulness / extrinsic motivation (PU/EM), and intrinsic motivation (IM). All three of those variables represent elements of attitude towards different aspects of creative and cultural industries. While ATB represents attitude towards the consumption of creative and cultural industries' products, both PU/EM and IM represent attitudes towards different benefits of creative and cultural

industries' products. These findings align with the literature on the importance of attitudes as behavior determinants (Ajzen, 2008).

These empirical results indicate the direction for future acceptance model development to build a model specifically for creative and cultural industries. Such a model should be primarily based on different types of attitudes towards various aspects of creative and cultural industries and their products.

## 6 Conclusions and policy recommendations

The share of consumers in Croatia who think they are familiar with creative and cultural industries (58 percent) is lower than the share of consumers using products and services of creative and cultural industries (80 percent). This means that many consumers in Croatia use these products and services without being aware that they are consuming creative and cultural industries' outputs. Their consumption is not driven by the positive role that creative and cultural industries might have for the national economy, society, or environment. These benefits of creative and cultural sectors are not recognized by the public in Croatia. The largest perceived benefit of consuming products and services of creative and cultural industries is that it improves one's mood. Public attitudes towards creative and cultural industries are generally positive and a growing importance of the sector in the future is envisaged by more than 40 percent of respondents. The term "creative and cultural industries" evokes positive associations with something innovative, modern, and artistic. Although at the beginning of the survey, only about one-third of Croatian citizens saw IT and new media-related activities as part of the creative and cultural industry, for 6 percent of them, computer games, software, and new media are the most often used creative and cultural industry products. The opinion that digitalization and new technologies will take primacy in the sector's future development is shared by 17 percent of respondents.

The discrepancies between familiarity and usage might be explained by the poor availability of some creative and cultural products and services but, more often, they are due to the lack of consumers' resources in terms of money and time. The potential to sell more products of music and arts, museums, libraries, and heritage visits depends on their affordability. Considering that spending on these types of products would be the first choice of Croatian consumers in increasing their consumption of creative and cultural products and services, perhaps some target measures of subsidizing such activities would help. However, one should be careful about taking the general answers at face value because people tend to give socially desirable answers in surveys, so they may have overestimated spending on culture. A more in-depth analysis of specific types of products and services and consumer subgroups is needed to confirm the findings. This limitation of our research should be mitigated by further empirical assessments, where applying the acceptance model is a useful tool to obtain validated results.

As the acceptance model for the creative and cultural industries has not yet been developed and tested, our seminal findings suggest that this sector's most adequate acceptance models should measure attitudes towards consumption and perceived usefulness of cultural and creative industries' products and services.

Further, our results point out the importance of raising awareness and education of the Croatian public on cultural and creative industries and their potential benefits regarding a more green and just or more sustainable economy that is in accordance with the European Green Deal (European Commission, 2019). Bearing in mind the fact that, according to the results of the research, Croatian citizens are not sufficiently informed and aware of the creative and cultural sector, the future sectoral policy for the development of cultural and creative industries should certainly include the implementation of public information campaigns about cultural and creative industries, which should involve the largest possible number of cultural and creative stakeholders.

Another finding is that, in the opinion of four out of ten respondents, the role of the government in developing cultural and creative industries is very important. From the official document of the Ministry of Culture and Media entitled Overview of Cultural Development and Cultural Policies in the Republic of Croatia (2022), it is clear that there is no strategic document in Croatia that plans the future development of the sector, and the funds for encouraging the development of the sector are insufficient. Although there is an institutional infrastructure for cultural and creative industries within the framework, the existence of a particular administration has not been manifested through a well-thoughtout and systematic policy for the development of the cultural and creative industries sector. This is undoubtedly one of the reasons why the Republic of Croatia is lagging behind the European Union when it comes to the development of this sector.

The European cultural and creative sectors and industries are a significant part of the economy and employment, whereby the COVID-19 pandemic had a more devastating effect on the creative and cultural industries than on other sectors, as the income of this sector in 2021 in the European Union dropped by as much as 199 billion euros, i.e., 30 percent compared to 2020. Even though these are very propulsive sectors, and it is in Croatia's strategic interest to develop these sectors and industries that have self-employment rates significantly higher (33 percent) than those in the overall economy (14 percent),<sup>5</sup> the Croatian creative and cultural sector is below average development compared to the European one.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2022-0444\_EN.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2022-0444\_EN.html

Following the results of the conducted research and analysis of secondary material, as well as in accordance with EU and UN recommendations, this research enabled the formulation of 20 policy proposals for developing the creative and cultural sector in Croatia.

- 1) All relevant institutions the Government of the Republic of Croatia, the Ministry of Economy and Sustainable Development, the Ministry of Culture and Media, the Ministry of Regional Development and European Union Funds, the Ministry of Science and Education, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Labour, Pension System, Family and Social Policy, the Ministry of the Interior, the Ministry of Tourism and Sport - are encouraged to cooperate with all cultural institutions, economic entities, the media, and associations that promote creative and cultural industries in the joint creation of the Strategy for the Development of Croatian Creative and Cultural Industries. This should include a proposal for a clear nomenclature that could continuously monitor statistical data through the Croatian Bureau of Statistics. Further, this should develop and consolidate the industrial policy framework for the ecosystem of cultural and creative sectors and industries in order to increase their competitiveness and strategic value for the Croatian economy, and to enable them to realize their potential in terms of creating jobs and creating growth. This would in turn highlight the potential of the cultural and creative sectors and industries when it comes to youth employment and reindustrialization, and especially the growing opportunities that the digital environment creates for young people in the cultural and creative sectors and industries. It is also recommended that they use the new results of the mapping of Croatian creative and cultural industries, which was conducted in 2021. They are especially invited to:
- 2) Recognize cultural and creative industries as strategic industries and establish a clear budget linked to quick and concrete measures aimed at the recovery of the sector, from which all its stakeholders should benefit.
- 3) Support the short-term recovery of the entire creative and cultural sector ecosystem and, in the long term, strengthen the resilience, competitiveness, and innovation of the cultural and creative sectors and industries and strengthen these sectors by providing fair support to all, especially the most vulnerable actors, to encourage opportunities for the employment of artists, authors, performers, cultural workers, and professionals in the field of cultural mediation by supporting cooperation between all disciplinary areas and to ensure comprehensive monitoring of the socioeconomic situation in the cultural and creative sectors and industries in order to more efficiently solve all significant crises in the future and monitor their digital and green transition.
- 4) Give more substantial support to research and development activities, innovations, experiments, and entrepreneurship in creative and cultural industries.
- 5) Improve and facilitate access to project financing from domestic and European funds and primarily work on the education of small and medium-sized entrepreneurs from

the cultural and creative industries in the field of project management and applying for financing from available funds.

- 6) Diversify the sources of support for the cultural and creative sectors and industries and guarantee that there will be no financial cuts or reductions in existing funds as the sector continues to face the consequences of the latest cuts.
- 7) Invest in programs of institutional and non-institutional and lifelong education in the field of creative and cultural industries and thus systematically work to develop human resources in these sectors.
- 8) Support vocational training programs and initiatives for the career development of all authors, performers, and creators of cultural content, and in particular, support acquiring digital, entrepreneurial, and other skills in order for them to use digital opportunities to promote their work and collaborate with other artists.
- 9) Strengthen institutional and infrastructural support in the development of creative and cultural industries and sectors.
- 10) Design concrete programs and projects that will accelerate the spillover effects of creative and cultural industries on other industries and society as a whole.
- 11) Support all creative and cultural industries, including occupations in the field of cultural mediation, which play a vital role as a link between the public and the work of art or heritage, thereby ensuring access to culture and its dissemination to the public.
- 12) Recognize the added value of cross-border cooperation and remove obstacles for sustainable and inclusive cross-border mobility of artists and cultural workers in the EU and third countries.
- 13) Support authors, performers, and other workers in the cultural and creative sectors and industries and provide them with clear information and guidance on mobility opportunities. Review and, if necessary, revise administrative requirements, including those for visas, taxation, social security, access to training, and recognition of the level of artistic education, including vocational education and training and academic qualifications, in order to simplify and harmonize access to all of the above, as well as to programs and funds of the EU that can serve their needs, such as Creative Europe, but also to programs that are not directly or specifically aimed at cultural and creative sectors and industries.
- 14) Consider deducting business expenses from taxes related to artistic activity and expenses for equipment or training (improvement and retraining) of cultural and creative workers.
- 15) Encourage greater synergy between the cultural and educational sectors, promote greater participation of art and cultural schools and institutions in activities within the Erasmus+ program, encourage the development of artistic professional studies, and accordingly supplement the law on higher education and support other activities within the EU programs for students and teachers.

- 16) Strongly condemn all stereotypes, sexism, and sexual harassment in the cultural and creative sectors and industries, and encourage gender equality in the selection process for higher positions in public cultural institutions.
- 17) Recognize the critical role of culture and art in promoting cultural diversity, encouraging inclusive societies, and fighting against all forms of discrimination.
- 18) Improve working conditions in cultural and creative sectors and industries and establish minimum standards for artists and cultural and creative workers in terms of working conditions, fair remuneration, and social security while recognizing the unique features of cultural and creative sectors and industries such as seasonal work and the non-monetized quality of creativity.
- 19) Promote and educate the public in Croatia about the importance of cultural and creative industries for social and economic development and the green transition.
- 20) In accordance with the recommendations from the UNCTAD report (2022, p. 84), in cooperation with relevant international institutions, develop clear classifications, definitions, and criteria for evaluating the development of cultural and creative industries on the international and domestic levels.

## References

Ahmetašević, E. (2015). Razvoj kreativne industrije kroz kulturnu politiku i redefiniranje sustava audiovizualne djelatnosti u Republici Hrvatskoj. *Medijska istraživanja*, *21*(1), 119–145.

Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211.

Ajzen, I. (2008). Consumer attitudes and behavior. In C. P. Haugtvedt, P. M. Herr, & F. R. Kardes (Eds.), *Handbook of consumer psychology* (pp. 525–548). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Berg, S. H., & Hassink, R. (2014). Creative industries from an evolutionary perspective: A critical literature review. *Geography Compass*, 8(9), 653–664.

Bilan, Y., Vasilyeva, T., Kryklii, O., & Shilimbetova, G. (2019). The creative industry as a factor in the development of the economy: Dissemination of European experience in the countries with economies in transition. *Creativity Studies*, *12*(1), 75–101.

Boo, S., & Froelicher, E. S. (2013). Secondary analysis of national survey datasets. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, *10*(1), 130–135.

Caves, R. E. (2000). *Creative industries: Contracts between art and commerce* (No. 20). Harvard University Press.

Cunningham, S., & Flew, T. (2019). Introduction to a research agenda for creative industries. In S. Cunningham & T. Flew (Eds.), *A research agenda for creative industries* (pp. 1–20). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Cvjetičanin, B. (2012). *Kreativna ekonomija i kultura*. Retrieved from: https://www.culturenet.hr/hr/kreativna-ekonomija-i-kultura-kolumna-b-cvjeticanin/36904

Cvjetičanin, B., & Katunarić, V. (1998). *Kulturna politika Republike Hrvatske: Nacionalni izvještaj*. Zagreb: Ministarstvo kulture / Institut za međunarodne odnose.

Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, *13*(3), 319–339.

Ekonomski institut, Zagreb. (2022). *Kulturne i kreativne industrije u Republici Hrvatskoj – prije i nakon COVID-19*. Zagreb: Ekonomski institut, Zagreb. Retrieved from: https://www.zamp.hr/uploads/documents/kkicovid19\_studija.pdf

European Commission. (2019). *The European Green Deal*. Retrieved from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?qid=1588580774040&uri=CELEX%3A52019DC0640

Flew, T. (2002). Beyond ad hocery: Defining creative industries. In *Cultural Sites, Cultural Theory, Cultural Policy, The Second International Conference on Cultural Policy Research.* 

Galloway, S., & Dunlop, S. (2007). A critique of definitions of the cultural and creative industries in public policy. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, *13*(1), 17–31.

He, G., Boas, I. J. C., Mol, A. P. J., & Lu, Y. (2018). What drives public acceptance of chemical industrial park policy and project in China? *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 138, 1–12.

Hill, R. (1998). What sample size is "enough" in internet survey research. *Interpersonal Computing and Technology: An Electronic Journal for the 21st Century*, 6(3–4), 1–12.

Howkins, J. (2013). *The creative economy: How people make money from ideas*. London: Penguin UK.

Jobst, I. (2020). Populariziranje uloge kreativnih djelatnika: Slučaj kreativne industrije u Republici Hrvatskoj. *Ekonomski vjesnik*, *33*(2), 635–642.

Kartika, R., Prabowo, F. H. E., Lestari, M. N., & Rahman, N. F. (2021). Building consumers' awareness on local creative industry products. In *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Sustainable Innovation 2020-Accounting and Management (ICoSIAMS 2020)* (pp. 406–410). Atlantis Press.

Matanovac Vučković, R. (2017). Economic potential of creative and cultural content in the digital single market – Challenges for the future of the copyright law in the European Union. In Sixth Bosnian Herzegovinian, Croatian and Turkish Jurist Days: The Legal Framework for Economic Competitiveness, conference proceedings (pp.

133–152). Zagreb: Pravni fakultet Sveučilišta u Zagrebu. Retrieved from: https://eu.pravo.hr/images/50020241/The%20Legal%20Framework%20for%20Ec onomic%20Competitiveness.pdf#page=133

Matanovac Vučković, R., Uzelac, A., & Vidović, D. (2022a). Kulturne politike na putu prema održivosti. In R. Matanovac Vučković, A. Uzelac, & D. Vidović (Eds.), *Pregled kulturnog razvoja i kulturnih politika u Republici Hrvatskoj* (pp. 17–28).

Matanovac Vučković, R., Uzelac, A., & Vidović, D. (Eds.). (2022b). *Pregled kulturnog razvoja i kulturnih politika u Republici Hrvatskoj*. Retreived from: https://min-

kulture.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/Pregled%20kulturnog%20razvoja%20i%20ku lturnih%20politika%20u%20Republici%20Hrvatskoj\_.pdf

Moore, I. (2014). Cultural and creative industries concept – A historical perspective. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 110, 738–746.

Newbigin, J. (2014). *What is the creative economy*? Retrieved from: https://creativeconomy.britishcouncil.org/guide/what-creative-economy/

O'Connor, J. (2009). Creative industries: A new direction? *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 15(4), 387–402.

Parrish, D. (n.d.). *Creative industries definitions*. Retrieved from: https://www.davidparrish.com/creative-industries-definitions/

Potts, J., & Cunningham, S. (2008). Four models of the creative industries. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 14(3), 233–247.

Potts, J., Cunningham, S., Hartley, J., & Ormerod, P. (2008). Social network markets: A new definition of the creative industries. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, *32*(3), 167–185.

Primorac, J. (2014). The position and perspectives of cultural and creative industries in southeastern Europe. *Medijska istraživanja, 20*(1), 45–65.

Primorac, J. (2022). Kulturne i kreativne industrije. In R. Matanovac Vučković, A. Uzelac, & D. Vidović (Eds.), *Pregled kulturnog razvoja i kulturnih politika u Republici Hrvatskoj* (pp. 282–289).

Rašić Bakarić, I., Bačić, K., & Božić, Lj. (2015). *Mapiranje kreativnih i kulturnih industrija u Republici Hrvatskoj*. Zagreb: Ekonomski institut, Zagreb.

Roodhouse, S. (2006). The creative industries: Definitions, quantification and practice. In C. Eisenberg, R. Gerlach, & C. Handke (Eds.), *Cultural industries: The British experience in international perspective*. Humboldt University Berlin, Edoc-Server. Retrieved from: http://edoc.hu-berlin.de

Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., & Warshaw, P. R. (1988). The theory of reasoned action: A meta-analysis of past research with recommendations for modifications and future research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 15(3), 325–334.

Taylor, S., & Todd, P. A. (1995). Assessing IT usage: The role of prior experience. *MIS Quarterly*, *19*(2), 561–570.

The Measuring CCS Consortium. (2022). *Measuring CCS final report*. Retrieved from: https://www.measuring-ccs.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/The-Measuring-CCS-Consortium-publishes-the-Final-Report-Measuring-the-Cultural-and-Creative-Sectors-in-the-EU.pdf

Towse, R. (2020). Creative industries. In R. Towse & T. Navarrete Hernández (Eds.), *Handbook of cultural economics, third edition* (pp. 137–144). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.

UNESCO and UNDP. (2013). Creative economy report, 2013, special edition: Widening local development pathways. New York, NY: United Nations.

United Kingdom's Creative Alliance. (2016). *Millennial trends that creative industries can't ignore*. Retrieved from: https://creativealliance.org.uk/millennial-trends-that-creative-industries-cant-ignore/

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development – UNCTAD. (2018). *Creative economy outlook – Trends in international trade in creative industries, 2002–2015.* New York, NY: United Nations.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development – UNCTAD. (2022). *Creative economy outlook 2022 – Pathway to resilient creative industries*. New York, NY: United Nations.

Upham, P., Oltra, C., & Boso, À. (2015). Towards a cross-paradigmatic framework of the social acceptance of energy systems. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 8, 100–112.

Vallerand, R. J. (1997). Toward a hierarchical model of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 29, 271–360.

van Antwerpen, J., Fesel, B., & Kaltenbach, L. (2015). *The cultural and creative industries in Europe: Entrepreneurial assets and capacities need more support*. Retrieved from: https://ecbnetwork.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/ECBN\_manifesto-20151.pdf

Van der Pol, H. (2007). *The key role of cultural and creative industries in the economy*. UNESCO Institute for Statistics, Canada.

Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 45(2), 186–204.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(3), 425–478.

# **Appendix: Questionnaire**

- 1. Are you familiar with the term "creative and cultural industries"?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No
- 2. What do creative and cultural industries stand for? How would you define them?
- 3. What industries do you think the term "creative and cultural industries" includes? (Multiple answers possible)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
  - d. Design
  - e. Film
  - f. Photography
  - g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
  - h. Architecture
  - i. Computer programs, games, and new media
  - j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
  - k. Publishing (books, journals)
  - 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
  - m. Something else What? \_\_\_\_\_
  - n. I do not know.

Cultural and creative industries include all those professions that are closely related to cultural, artistic, and creative activity: museums, galleries, libraries, all types of visual arts, dance arts, music industry, film industry, architecture, theatre, TV, radio, podcast, photography, software production, publishing, advertising, all kinds of design (web design, graphic design, interior and exterior design, product design, etc.), fashion industry, video game industry, and the like.

- 4. Do you personally use some of the creative and cultural industries' products/services?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No  $\Rightarrow$  Please go to question 8.
- 5. List all the creative and cultural industries' products/services that you use. (Multiple answers possible)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
  - d. Design
  - e. Film
  - f. Photography

- g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
- h. Architecture
- i. Computer programs, games, and new media
- j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
- k. Publishing (books, journals)
- 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 6. Which creative and cultural industries' product/service do you use most frequently? (One answer only)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
  - d. Design
  - e. Film
  - f. Photography
  - g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
  - h. Architecture
  - i. Computer programs, games, and new media
  - j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
  - k. Publishing (books, journals)
  - l. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 7. Rank the following criteria according to importance when choosing the creative and cultural industries' products/services. The first place should be the most important criterion, the second place should be the second most important one, etc. The last, fifth place, should be the least important criterion.
  - a. Quality \_\_\_\_\_
  - b. Price \_\_\_\_\_
  - c. Location \_\_\_\_\_
  - d. Ecological aspects \_\_
  - e. Social responsibility \_\_\_\_\_
- 8. What would make you use more frequently or start using creative and cultural industries' products/services? (Multiple answers possible)
  - a. More money available
  - b. More free time
  - c. More creative and cultural industries' products/services available
  - d. Higher quality of creative and cultural industries' products/services
  - e. Something else What? \_\_\_\_
  - f. Nothing

If you answered 8a ⇒ 9a. Which creative and cultural industries' products/services would you start using or use more frequently if you had more money? (Multiple answers possible)

- a. Museums, libraries, heritage
- b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
- c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
- d. Design

- e. Film
- f. Photography
- g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
- h. Architecture
- i. Computer programs, games, and new media
- j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
- k. Publishing (books, journals)
- 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)

If you answered 8b  $\Rightarrow$  9b. Which creative and cultural industries' products/services would you start using or use more frequently if you had more free time? (Multiple answers possible)

- a. Museums, libraries, heritage
- b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
- c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
- d. Design
- e. Film
- f. Photography
- g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
- h. Architecture
- i. Computer programs, games, and new media
- j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
- k. Publishing (books, journals)
- 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 10. To what extent do you agree/disagree with the following statements? Mark an answer to each statement using a scale from 1 to 5 (1 = Strongly disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Neither agree nor disagree, 4 = Agree, and 5 = Strongly agree).

Creative and cultural industries have an important role in environmental protection.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries have an important role in encouraging ecological behavior in companies and consumers.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries have an important role in the economy.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries have an important social role.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries should have a bigger role in reducing the ecological footprint.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries should have a bigger role in the economy.	1	2	3	4	5
Creative and cultural industries should have a bigger role in society.	1	2	3	4	5
The role of creative and cultural industries will be more significant in the future.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel good when I use creative and cultural industries' products/services.	1	2	3	4	5

Using creative and cultural industries' products/services lifts my	1	2	3	4	5
mood.					
Using creative and cultural industries' products/services helps me	1	2	3	4	5
overcome problems.					
The benefits of using creative and cultural industries'	1	2	3	4	5
products/services are more prominent in times of crisis such as the					
pandemic, wars, and other adversities.					
Using creative and cultural industries' products/services helps me	1	2	3	4	5
overcome emergency situations I have no control over (e.g., the					
pandemic, wars, energy crisis, and earthquakes).					

- 11. Which creative and cultural industries subsector has the least significant ecological footprint? (One answer only)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
  - d. Design
  - e. Film
  - f. Photography
  - g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
  - h. Architecture
  - i. Computer programs, games, and new media
  - j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
  - k. Publishing (books, journals)
  - l. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 12. Which creative and cultural industries subsector contributes most to the economy? (One answer only)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)
  - d. Design
  - e. Film
  - f. Photography
  - g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
  - h. Architecture
  - i. Computer programs, games, and new media
  - j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
  - k. Publishing (books, journals)
  - 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 13. Which creative and cultural industries subsector contributes most to society? (One answer only)
  - a. Museums, libraries, heritage
  - b. Visual arts (e.g., painting)
  - c. Music and performing arts (e.g., concerts, theatre)

- d. Design
- e. Film
- f. Photography
- g. Traditional and decorative arts and crafts
- h. Architecture
- i. Computer programs, games, and new media
- j. Electronic media (TV, radio, websites, etc.)
- k. Publishing (books, journals)
- 1. Marketing and market communications (advertisements)
- 14. What is the role and significance of the government, especially the Ministry of Culture and Media, for the development of creative and cultural industries in Croatia? (One answer only)
  - a. Unimportant. Creative and cultural industries are left to themselves. A more active role of the government is needed via strategies and action plans, and financing of the strategic projects crucial for the development of these industries.
  - b. Most significant because creative and cultural industries greatly depend on state funding.
  - c. Most significant for some industries, while for others the effect is more of a burden than support.
  - d. I do not know.
- 15. To what extent do you agree/disagree with the following statements? Mark an answer to each statement using a scale from 1 to 5 (1 = Strongly disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Neither agree nor disagree, 4 = Agree, and 5 = Strongly agree).

1.	SBN1	When I use the products/services of the creative	1	2	3	4	5
		and cultural industries, most people who are					
		important to me look on that with approval.					
2.	SBN2	Most people who are important to me approve of	1	2	3	4	5
		my use of the products/services of the creative and					
		cultural industries.					
3.	SBN3	Everyone important to me thinks it is acceptable to	1	2	3	4	5
		use the products/services of the creative and					
		cultural industries.					
4.	ATT1	Using the products/services of creative and cultural	1	2	3	4	5
		industries is a useful idea.					
5.	ATT2	Using the products/services of creative and cultural	1	2	3	4	5
		industries is a good idea.					
6.	ATT3	In general, my attitude towards the use of	1	2	3	4	5
		products/services of creative and cultural industries					
		is positive.					
7.	PBC1	I can easily access the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries.					
8.	PBC2	If I wanted to, it would be easy for me to get to the	1	2	3	4	5
		products/services of the creative and cultural					
		industries.					

0	PBC3	Mar and an and and and and and and and and	1	2	3	6	5
9.	PBC3	My use of creative and cultural industries'	1	Ζ	3	4	2
		products/services is an activity that is fully under					
		my control.					
10.	INT1	I intend to use the products/services of the creative	1	2	3	4	5
		and cultural industries in the near future.					
11.	INT2	As soon as the opportunity arises, I will use the	1	2	3	4	5
		products/services of the creative and cultural					
		industries.					
12.	INT3	I will always use the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries.					
13.	EOU1	In general, I find the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries easy to use.					
14.	EOU2	It is easy to learn to use the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries.					
15.	EOU3	I understand how to use the products/services of	1	2	3	4	5
		the creative and cultural industries.					
16.	PU1	My use of creative and cultural industries'	1	2	3	4	5
		products/services is useful for me.					
17.	PU2	The products/services of the creative and cultural	1	2	3	4	5
		industries provide me with numerous benefits.					
18.	PU3	The time I spend using the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries is time well spent.					
19.	IM1	I find using the products/services of the creative	1	2	3	4	5
		and cultural industries to be an enjoyable activity.					
20.	IM2	I have fun using the products/services of the	1	2	3	4	5
		creative and cultural industries.					
21.	IM3	In general, it is pleasant to use the	1	2	3	4	5
		products/services of the creative and cultural					
		industries.					

16. Please describe how you imagine creative and cultural industries in the future.

Note: The original questionnaire was in Croatian.

Popis objavljenih Radnih materijala EIZ-a / Previous issues in this series

## 2023

EIZ-WP-2301 Valerija Botrić, Sonja Radas and Bruno Škrinjarić: Gender differences in management styles during crisis and the effect on firm performance

#### 2022

EIZ-WP-2203	Sonja Radas and Bruno Škrinjarić: Girl Power: Creating More with Less
EIZ-WP-2202	Bruno Škrinjarić, Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: Change of consumers' attitudes in response to an online privacy violation incident
EIZ-WP-2201	Marko Ledić, Ivica Rubil, Ivica Urban: Missing top incomes and tax-benefit microsimulation: evidence from correcting household survey data using tax records data

## 2021

EIZ-WP-2104	Nga Thi Viet Nguyen and Ivica Rubi: Fiscal Policies, Inequality, and Poverty in Croatia
EIZ-WP-2103	Marko Ledić, Ivica Rubil and Ivica Urban: Tax Progressivity and Social Welfare with a Continuum of Inequality Views
EIZ-WP-2102	Zoran Aralica and Bruno Škrinjarić: Adoption of digital and ICT technologies and

- firms' productivity
- EIZ-WP-2101 Irena Đokić, Ivana Rašić and Sunčana Slijepčević: Innovation in the public services at the local and regional level

## 2020

- EIZ-WP-2003 Jelena Budak, Edo Rajh, Sunčana Slijepčević and Bruno Škrinjarić: Theoretical concepts of consumer resilience to online privacy violation
- EIZ-WP-2002 Marin Kukoč, Bruno Škrinjarić and Josip Juračak: The Impact Assessment of the EU Pre-Accession Funds on Agriculture and Food Companies: The Croatian Case
- EIZ-WP-2001 Stjepan Srhoj and Ivan Zilic: "Fine...I'll do it myself": Lessons from self-employment grants in a long recession period

- EIZ-WP-1904 Jelena Budak, Edo Rajh, Goran Buturac and Anamarija Brković: *Public opinion on* tobacco gray market in the Western Balkans: A cluster analysis approach
- EIZ-WP-1903 Vassilis Monastiriotis and Ivan Zilic: The economic effects of political disintegration: Lessons from Serbia and Montenegro
- EIZ-WP-1902 Stjepan Srhoj, Bruno Škrinjarić, Sonja Radas and Janette Walde: Closing the Finance Gap by Nudging: Impact Assessment of Public Grants for Women Entrepreneurs

EIZ-WP-1901 Vedran Recher: Tobacco smuggling in the Western Balkan region: Exploring habits, attitudes, and predictors of illegal tobacco demand

#### 2018

EIZ-WP-1805	Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović, Željka Kordej-De Villa and Mislav Šagovac: Smart City Indicators: Can They Improve Governance in Croatian Large Cities?
EIZ-WP-1804	lva Tomić and Ivan Žilić: Working for 200 euro? The effects of traineeship reform on labor market outcomes in Croatia
EIZ-WP-1803	Bruno Škrinjarić, Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: The Perceived Impact of Government Regulation in Reducing Online Privacy Concern
EIZ-WP-1802	Stjepan Srhoj, Bruno Škrinjarić and Sonja Radas: Bidding against the odds? The impact evaluation of grants for young micro and small firms during the recession
EIZ-WP-1801	Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović: Porezna autonomija gradova u Hrvatskoj u razdoblju 2002.–2016.

## 2017

- EIZ-WP-1706 Katarina Bačić, Ivana Rašić Bakarić and Sunčana Slijepčević: Sources of productivity differentials in manufacturing in post-transition urban South-East Europe
- EIZ-WP-1705 Martin Larsson: EU Emissions Trading: Policy-Induced Innovation, or Business as Usual? Findings from Company Case Studies in the Republic of Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1704 Marina Tkalec and Ivan Žilić: Does Proximity to Conflict Affect Tourism: Evidence from NATO Bombing
- EIZ-WP-1703 Nebojša Stojčić and Zoran Aralica: Choosing Right from Wrong: Industrial Policy and (De)industrialization in Central and Eastern Europe
- EIZ-WP-1702 Bruno Škrinjarić, Jelena Budak and Mateo Žokalj: The Effect of Personality Traits on Online Privacy Concern
- EIZ-WP-1701 Alexander Ahammer and Ivan Zilic: Do Financial Incentives Alter Physician Prescription Behavior? Evidence from Random Patient-GP Allocations

- EIZ-WP-1609 Edo Rajh, Jelena Budak, Jovo Ateljević, Ljupčo Davčev, Tamara Jovanov and Kosovka Ognjenović: Entrepreneurial Intentions in Selected Southeast European Countries
- EIZ-WP-1608 Ivan Žilić: General versus Vocational Education: Lessons from a Quasi-Experiment in Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1607 Valerija Botrić: Public vs. private sector wage skill premia in recession: Croatian experience
- EIZ-WP-1606 Edo Rajh, Jelena Budak and Mateo Žokalj: Personal Values of Internet Users: A Cluster Analytic Approach
- EIZ-WP-1605 Simon Stickelmann: The Influence of the European Union Consumer Protection Policy on Croatian Consumers

EIZ-WP-1604	Bojan Basrak, Petra Posedel, Marina Tkalec and Maruška Vizek: Searching high
	and low: Extremal dependence of international sovereign bond markets

- EIZ-WP-1603 Valerija Botrić and Iva Tomić: Self-employment of the young and the old: exploring effects of the crisis in Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1602 Vedran Recher: Tougher Than the Rest? Relationship between Unemployment and Crime in Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1601 Iva Tomić: What drives youth unemployment in Europe?

#### 2015

- EIZ-WP-1505 Petra Palić, Petra Posedel Šimović and Maruška Vizek: The Determinants of Country's Risk Premium Volatility: Evidence from Panel VAR Model
- EIZ-WP-1504 Sunčana Slijepčević, Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: Challenging Competition at Public Procurement Markets: Are SMEs Too Big to Fail? The Case of BiH and Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1503 Ivan Žilić: Effect of forced displacement on health
- EIZ-WP-1502 Vedran Recher, Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: Eye in the Sky: Contextualizing Development with Online Privacy Concern in Western Balkan Countries
- EIZ-WP-1501 Petra Posedel Šimović, Marina Tkalec and Maruška Vizek: Time-varying integration in European post-transition sovereign bond market

#### 2014

EIZ-WP-1403	Jelena Nikolic, Ivica Rubil and Iva Tomić: Changes in Public and Private Sector Pay
	Structures in Two Emerging Market Economies during the Crisis

- EIZ-WP-1402 Jelena Budak, Edo Rajh and Ivan-Damir Anić: *Privacy Concern in Western Balkan Countries: Developing a Typology of Citizens*
- EIZ-WP-1401 Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: The Public Procurement System: A Business Sector Perspective

#### 2013

- EIZ-WP-1302 Valerija Botrić: Identifying Key Sectors in Croatian Economy Based on Input-Output Tables
- EIZ-WP-1301 Ivica Rubil: Accounting for Regional Poverty Differences in Croatia: Exploring the Role of Disparities in Average Income and Inequality

- EIZ-WP-1205 Hrvoje Mirošević: Analiza razvojnih dokumenata Republike Hrvatske
- EIZ-WP-1204 Iva Tomić: The Efficiency of the Matching Process: Exploring the Impact of Regional Employment Offices in Croatia

EIZ-WP-1203	Jelena Budak, Ivan-Damir Anić and Edo Rajh: Public Attitudes towards Surveillance
	and Privacy in Western Balkans: The Case of Serbia

- EIZ-WP-1202 Valerija Botrić: Intra-industry Trade between the European Union and Western Balkans: A Close-up
- EIZ-WP-1201 Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: Corruption Survey in Croatia: Survey Confidentiality and Trust in Institutions

#### 2011

- EIZ-WP-1104 Jelena Budak and Edo Rajh: Corruption as an Obstacle for Doing Business in the Western Balkans: A Business Sector Perspective
- EIZ-WP-1103 Alfio Cerami and Paul Stubbs: Post-communist Welfare Capitalisms: Bringing Institutions and Political Agency Back In
- EIZ-WP-1102 Marina Tkalec: The Dynamics of Deposit Euroization in European Post-transition Countries: Evidence from Threshold VAR
- EIZ-WP-1101 Jelena Budak, Ivan-Damir Anić and Edo Rajh: *Public Attitudes Towards Surveillance* and *Privacy in Croatia*

## 2010

EIZ-WP-1003	Marin Božić: Pricing Options on Commodity Futures: The Role of Weather and Storage
EIZ-WP-1002	Dubravka Jurlina Alibegović and Sunčana Slijepčević: Performance Measurement

- EIZ-WP-1002 Dubravka Jurlina Alibegovic and Suncana Slijepčevič: Performance Measurement at the Sub-national Government Level in Croatia
- EIZ-WP-1001 Petra Posedel and Maruška Vizek: The Nonlinear House Price Adjustment Process in Developed and Transition Countries

#### 2009

- EIZ-WP-0902 Marin Božić and Brian W. Gould: *Has Price Responsiveness of U.S. Milk Supply Decreased?*
- EIZ-WP-0901 Sandra Švaljek, Maruška Vizek and Andrea Mervar: Ciklički prilagođeni proračunski saldo: primjer Hrvatske

- EIZ-WP-0802 Janez Prašnikar, Tanja Rajkovič and Maja Vehovec: Competencies Driving Innovative Performance of Slovenian and Croatian Manufacturing Firms
- EIZ-WP-0801 Tanja Broz: The Introduction of the Euro in Central and Eastern European Countries – Is It Economically Justifiable?

## 2007

	Arjan Lejour, Andrea Mervar and Gerard Verweij: The Economic Effects of Croatia's Accession to the EU
EIZ-WP-0704	Danijel Nestić: Differing Characteristics or Differing Rewards: What is Behind the Gender Wage Gap in Croatia?
EIZ-WP-0703	Maruška Vizek and Tanja Broz: Modelling Inflation in Croatia
EIZ-WP-0702	Sonja Radas and Mario Teisl: An Open Mind Wants More: Opinion Strength and the Desire for Genetically Modified Food Labeling Policy

EIZ-WP-0701 Andrea Mervar and James E. Payne: An Analysis of Foreign Tourism Demand for Croatian Destinations: Long-Run Elasticity Estimates



